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The cobbled yard of phase 2 can be seen, and two of the three postholes cut through it in phase 4. 
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Background  
 
Site location  
 
Ewell lies some 13 miles (21 kilometres) south-west of London on the Roman road of Stane 
Street, which linked London with Chichester. The site excavated in 1974 5 lies towards the 
northern edge of Ewell village, in the north-east corner of an extension to St. Maryôs 
churchyard which was laid out on the far side of Church Street when the original area round 
the church had become full. It is bounded to the north by the rear gardens of houses facing 
onto London Road, and to the east by the garages and outhouses which lie behind shops 
fronting onto the Ewell by-pass (fig. 1). The underlying geology is Thanet Sand. 

 
Previous archaeology  
 
The first excavations to trace the route of Stane Street through Ewell took place in the 1930s. 
A.W.G. Lowther initially located the road at Castle Parade, just north of the churchyard 
extension; it was 25 feet (7.6m) wide and 1 foot 9 inches (0.53m) thick, and was associated 
with Roman pottery, tile and coins (Lowther 1935: 32ï5, fig. 15, pl. 8). In 1955 Tom Walls 
found three Roman brooches (appendix 2) in this same area, when a drainage trench cut the 
western edge of the road. In 1935 S.E. Winbolt drew attention to the Roman structures, coins 
and pottery which had been found on the western side of the presumed line of Stane Street 
during the digging of graves in the new churchyard (Winbolt 1936: 226ï7). Solid floors of flint 
nodules associated with flue tiles and pottery were recorded in 1959 and 1961 (Likeman 
1960). These were all disturbed during grave digging to the west of the presumed line of the 
road. 
 
In 1952 Stane Street was located in the north-eastern corner of the churchyard, as was a layer 
of flints which may have been a cobbled yard, if it was not part of the road itself (Lowther 1954: 
xxvii). A rescue excavation was conducted in this same area by the writer in 1970 1, and 
revealed four main phases of Roman activity. This began with the construction of Stane Street 
c. AD 60, followed by a phase of roadside occupation, evidenced by two pits, a midden, 
cobbled surfaces, and a rectangular building c. AD 80ï160. Between c. AD 160ï370 there was 
a hiatus in the use of the area, followed by the construction of a second building c. AD 370 
(Pemberton 1973).  

 
Excavation history  
 
Further work was conducted at the north-western corner of the churchyard in 1974ï5, at a 
point immediately to the north of the 1970 1 excavations and west of the presumed line of 
Stane Street. The 25-foot grid already established on the 1970 1 site was extended onto the 
1974 5 excavation; the datum point for this grid was the south-eastern corner of the 
churchyard, and its alignment was taken from the south edge of the churchyard path. This 
area slopes towards the south-east; heights were measured at two grid intersections, one at 
the north-east corner of trench Zc (38.6m OD) and the other 50 feet to the south at the end of 
the church path (38.21m OD). 
 
The 1974 excavations were directed by the author. Two trenches, each 8m by 2m, were 
opened to the north of the church path; they feature on the plan as Za and Zc. In 1975 the site 
was run on a rota basis by James Barfoot, Richard Temple and the author, with open-plan 
excavation extending from the west side of trench Za and uncovering a large cobbled yard 
(Barfoot Temple & Pemberton 1974). Some smaller test pits and trenches were opened in the 
grid square to the north of this excavation and the north-west of trench Zc, in an area where 
samian and quern fragments had been recorded in 1939 (HER 1143); these revealed only 
traces of WW2 air raid shelters and are not considered further here. 
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The site evidence  
 
Prehistoric  
 
Struck flint was found throughout the site, in all contexts. The flint was mostly debris of an 
undiagnostic kind, and could represent activity of all periods from the Mesolithic onwards. One 
diagnostic group of flakes, however, was found resting directly on the natural Thanet Sand in 
the south-west corner of the main open-plan trench, at a depth of 96ï104cm from the ground 
surface. These flakes were sealed by the Roman deposit 27 and had apparently remained 
undisturbed since their original deposition. 

 
Roman phase 1 AD 50 70 
 
Roman activity began on the site with the construction of Stane Street. The natural Thanet 
Sand was scarped back to provide hard, level ground and on this was laid a foundation of 
pebbles and shattered pebbles embedded in orange sand (context 15). Over this foundation, 
and apparently extending some 1.5m to either side of it (though excavation only uncovered 
the western side) there was yellow gravel forming the main body of the road. This had been 
laid in two phases, contexts 8 and 9. By depositing this layer onto the scarped face of the 
Thanet Sand, the surface of the road was raised a little above the layer of the original land 
surface; however, the tip-line of context 9 fell some 0.8m short of meeting up with this original 
surface, which left a sunken ditch beside the road. This ditch was subsequently filled up by a 
yellowish clay with silt (context 16), much of which may have washed out from the road 
surface. This context was barren of finds, suggesting that the ditch filled quite soon after the 
construction of the road, and that no attempt was made subsequently to cut it back to its 
original dimensions. A 1m-wide trench (not on the site plan) was dug from the eastern corner 
of Zc, across the road at right angles to it, and revealed a width of up to 11m for the central 
agger. Stane Street must have been surfaced with a road metalling of flint but little trace of 
this was found in excavation, implying that it had been robbed out in later phases. 

Figure 1. St. Maryôs Churchyard. Site location, scale 1:2850. Grid reference at top right, TQ 2240 6315; 
at bottom left, 2190 6285. Based on the Ordnance Survey map, with permission of Her Majestyôs 
Stationery Office. 
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The only dating evidence from the road material was an as of Vespasian, AD 69ï79, found in 
context 9. However, a date of AD 50s to 70s has been confirmed for Stane Street at other 
excavations including Road 1 from the London bridgehead for Watling Street and Stane Street 
in Southwark (Bird, Sheldon & Townend 1978: 15; Drummond-Murray, Thompson & Cowan 
2002: 14; Yule 2005: 46). In that case, the coin must have worked its way into the road 
metalling in the decades after this was laid. 

 
Roman phase 2 AD 70 ï160 
 
A cobbled surface or yard was laid out to the west of the road. The lowest level of this surface 
(context 27) consisted of a layer of irregular flint nodules packed with smaller flints and 
pebbles in a dark brown sandy soil, and was found above the natural Thanet Sand at a depth 
of 0.68ï0.95m. Resting on this, and deposited as part of the same accumulation of material, 
was a layer of flint nodules 0.18m thick tightly packed with pebbles and smaller flints (context 
14). 
 
It is not clear whether this cobbling was deliberately laid to act as a pavement, or whether its 
regular appearance came about gradually as loads of deposited flint consolidated into a hard 
surface. The presence of two layers, 27 and 14, suggests that the cobbled surface was a by-
product of two successive loads of flint being dumped in a muddy area. Pottery, tile and 
charcoal were found mixed in with this material. The pottery included Alice Holt Surrey, 
Highgate and Verulamium white wares as well as a Cologne beaker and Dressel 20 
amphorae. Most of the samian was early to mid second century, while coins included an as of 
Domitian and an AE4 of Trajan. This suggests that the cobbled yard was laid down in the late 
second century. Stane Street was still being maintained at this time, for a pothole extending 
down to the yellow gravel (context 11) was filled with material including sherds of Much 
Hadham ware, which would date the repair work to c. 200. 

 
Roman phase 3 AD 160 ï350 
 
The cobbled floor or yard alongside Stane Street fell into disuse and was gradually covered by 
an occupation layer of dark brown sandy soil containing charcoal fragments, building material 
and mortar fragments (context 13). This was between 0.20m and 0.35m thick, and covered 
the whole area towards the road, including the silted ditch which had run beside it. 
 
While the cobbled yard was no longer visible, and was not retained as a hard surface, it 
continued to exist as a demarcated area. Although several pits and hollows were dug in this 
phase, they were all sited outside the former cobbled area, where they could in any case be 
cut more easily without needing to break through the flints. Several of these features had a 
clay lining and most contained groups of pottery, bones, daub fragments and metal objects. 
They seem to be the remnants of dumping or the residue of burning of household refuse on 
makeshift bases, hearths or braziers. 
 
To the south of the cobbled yard was found a circular group of flints 0.54m in diameter with 
charcoal fragments in a brown sandy soil (context 18), an oblong patch of charcoal upon a 
base of flints (context 22), and a circular patch of grey gravel with iron objects and nails 
(context 32). Another circular group of flints with charcoal fragments in a brown sandy soil, 
0.53m in diameter and 0.3m deep (context 19), may have been the fill of a posthole. A shallow 
hollow layer along the edge of the cobbling (context 34) lay nearby. To the north of the yard 
was a linear feature 0.50m wide, running along a sloping edge of the cobbled surface, and 
made up of small pebbles in an ovoid brown clay base 0.10m thick and incorporating charcoal 
and dark brown soil (context 28). There was also an expanse of orange clay and sand 0.30m 
in diameter covered with charcoal fragments and surrounded by dark grey gravel (context 31) 
which was cut into the natural that extended along the edge of the cobbled surface. 
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Figure 2. St. Maryôs Churchyard. Site 
plan, scale 1:290. The excavations of 
1970 1 are to the east of the site, and 
those of 1974 5 to the west. Based on 
working copies (whose accuracy 
cannot be verified) made from the 
original plans and sections, which are 
no longer available. 
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The occupation layer (context 13) which spread over the disused yard contained much pottery 
and other finds, but these were mostly residual from earlier use of the site. If, as seems 
probable, the build-up of soil began shortly after the laying of the flints in phase 2, then the 
accumulation of context 13 would have taken place between the mid second and the early 
fourth century. The pottery found in this context included Alice Holt Farnham wares with bead, 
squared, everted and hooked-rimmed types, Pompeian red and white slipped oxidised wares, 
and mortaria in Oxfordshire red/brown and white wares. The samian is dominated by Central 
Gaulish plain and decorated hemispherical bowls (Drag 37), while coins include Claudius II, 
Tetricus I, Carausius and Constantine, together with issues of Magnentius, Valens and 
Theodosius I which may however be intrusive. 

 
Roman phase 4 AD 350 ï400 
 
Eventually the cobbled yard, concealed from view by a continual build-up of soil, ceased to be 
visible; later activity on the site did not respect its boundaries, and holes were dug there in 
ignorance of the obstacle which would be created by the flints. This stage must have been 
reached when three postholes were dug in the yard (the holes feature on the plan, fig. 3, but 
are not numbered as contexts). These run on a north-south line, at an angle of some 30 
degrees to Stane Street; they were cut to an average depth of 0.30m and packed with loose 
flints and brown soil to carry posts about 0.4m in diameter, spaced 2.75m apart from each 
other. The size and spacing of these posts suggests that they supported a building, although 
in the absence of a second, parallel row, it remains possible that they were only for fencing. A 
shallow gully, which may or may not have been associated with the building, has its head 
between the northernmost two posts, and was cut some 0.16m deep into the underlying 
cobbles to drain to the north-west. At the head of this gully was a deposit of yellow sandy clay 
(context 23) with an ox skull placed in sandy clay at its western end (context 25). Nearby was 
an oval depression 0.55m across (context 29) which probably acted as a soakaway. 
 
A new but shallower ditch was dug at the edge of Stane Street, cutting through context 13, 
which seems to have abutted onto the unditched road. The fill of this ditch, a dark grey sandy 
silt, formed context 10. Whether this ditch was ever recut or maintained is not clear. The 
activity represented by the building, gully and renewed interest in the road came to an end 
when a fresh build-up of dark grey soil with charcoal lenses (context 7) accumulated over the 
area. By this stage the flint metalling on Stane Street had been robbed out, and random 
pockets of flint had also been taken out from the edge of the buried cobbled yard. 
 
A coin of 383ï402 was found in the silt of the second Stane Street ditch, context 10; but there 
is always the possibility that such coins are intrusive. Context 7, which sealed this phase, 
contained sherds of Portchester D ware. This suggests that this final phase of activity took 
place after c, 350 (when the accumulation of context 13 came to an end), and concluded 
before 400 (the latest date range for Portchester D). 
 
After the disuse of the buildings, a dark brown loam soil with small flints and river pebbles, 
(context 6) accumulated across the whole site, including Stane Street. This contained some 
residual Roman pottery, including white-slipped red ware mortaria, and coins which include 
Gallienus, Carausius, Constantine and Valentinian II. The material would derive from 375ï400 
and represents an accumulation of soil on an abandoned site. 

 
Post -Roman phase  
 
Medieval sherds were found in a dark brown soil which occurred across the site down to a 
level of 0.40m (context 2), and which gradually gave way to the modern topsoil (context 1). 
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Figure 3. Trench Y. A cobbled yard (Roman phase 2) cut by postholes and other features 
(phases 3 and 4). 


